IN THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF FLORIDA

STATE OF FLORIDA, DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION,

Petitioner,

v.

CASE NO. SC01-1014 Lower Tribunal No. 4D99-3275

ARMADILLO PARTNERS, INC.,

Respondent.

_____/

INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER STATE OF FLORIDA, DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION

ON PETITION FOR REVIEW OF A DECISION OF THE FOURTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL STATE OF FLORIDA, CASE NO. 4D99-3275

> ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH Attorney General ROBERT I. SCANLAN Assistant Attorney General Fla. Bar No. 183871 Office of the Attorney General The Capitol - PL-01 Tallahassee, FL 32399-1050 (850)414-3300, extension 4691

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The State of Florida, Department of Transportation, the Appellee below and Petitioner here, will be referred to as "the Department." Armadillo Partners, Inc., the Appellant below and Respondent here, will be referred to as "Armadillo."

Citations to the transcript will be by volume and page number and take the form of (Tr. Vol.: page).

Citations to the Appendix hereto will be indicated parenthetically as "A" with the appropriate page number(s).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

This case began with the filing of an eminent domain petition by the Florida Department of Transportation on March 21, 1997, seeking to acquire land from Armadillo Partners, Inc. (R: 1-17) By order of taking on June 3, 1997, the Department acquired Parcel 122, consisting of 16,229 square feet of property in fee simple, and acquired Parcel 715, a 3,899 square foot temporary construction easement. (R: 145-153) Title to this property passed to the Department on June 19, 1997, when a deposit of \$866,725.00 was made into the court registry. (R: 203)

The Department's roadway project involved the widening of Griffin Road to six lanes and making other improvements to the Davie Road intersection. Parcel 122 included the taking of a nine foot wide strip along Davie Road to construct a seven foot sidewalk and retaining wall and the taking of a 46 foot wide strip along Griffin Road to build 36 feet of new pavement, a sidewalk, curb and gutter, and gravity wall.(Tr. II: 108-109) Parcel 715, the temporary construction easement, was acquired for the temporary use of the Department to tie in and harmonize the existing driveways and to allow room for the Department to build a retaining wall. (Tr. II: 111)

The trial was held in Broward County between July 12, 1999

and July 22, 1999 before Judge Patti Englander Henning. The issues tried before the jury were the value of land and improvements taken, the amount of cost to cure, the amount of severance damages, and value of lost fixtures. On July 22, 1999, the jury rendered a verdict of \$807,150 as compensation for Parcel 122 and \$10,300 for Parcel 715. (R: 504-507) Final judgment was entered September 24, 1999. (R: 541-546)

The property of Armadillo was a neighborhood shopping center, known as Armadillo Square, located at the corner of Griffin Road and Davie Road in the City of Davie. The shopping center had various office, retail, and restaurant tenants. (Tr. VI: 1019, 1028-1029)

Armadillo Square was on a 2.3 acre (100,972 sq. ft.) tract at the corner of Griffin and Davie Roads. (Tr. III: 382) The buildings contain 26,013 square feet (Tr. III: 397) with three driveways, 21 parking spaces in the rear, and 119 spaces in front. The taking eliminated 49 parking spaces in the front of the building. (Tr. II: 239-241) The real estate appraisers for both parties agreed that the center could not continue to operate and the buildings would lose all value as a result of the taking, if nothing were done to renovate the property. If nothing were done to the site, both appraisers agreed the value of the remaining property would be limited to the value of the

raw land, less the cost to demolish the buildings. (Tr. III: 358; VI: 942)

Since the taking destroyed most of the value of the center, both parties considered what physical alterations needed to be made to the remaining site for it to remain in operation and retain some market value. (Tr. III: 360, VI:944) The Department assembled a team of professionals - Messrs. Kerr, Tinter, Cartaya, Stacer, and Gallion - to assess the damage to the remainder and to develop a plan to minimize the damages. (Tr. II: 149, 168, 241-242, 269-272, V: 860) As John Hagan, Armadillos' appraisal witness testified, the crux of the assignment was to figure out what type of alterations needed to be made by the owner, so the property could continue to operate and provide maximum value to the remainder property. (Tr. VI: 899-900) The trial became a battle of "cure plans".

Prior to the Department beginning its testimony, several exhibits were admitted into evidence. (Tr. II: 101) Armadillo raised objections to the Department's Exhibits 6 and 8, which presented the Department's cure plan and alterations to the remaining property. The objection was based on the presumption that the plan was contingent on variances being obtained from the City of Davie to permit construction and the Department was unable to present evidence that those variances could be

obtained within a reasonable probability. (Tr. II: 101-103) However, Armadillo agreed the two exhibits could be used in connection with the testimony of Douglas Green, the Department's engineer witness. (Tr. II: 104)

Douglas Green, the Department's engineer witness, was presented as the first witness to introduce the right of way maps and construction plans, to describe the project, and to describe the project's impact on Armadillo's property. (Tr. II: 107-109, 114) A resolution had been introduced authorizing Mr. Green to bind the Department on design and construction issues, including driveway connections. See DOT Exhibit 1. (App. 4) Mr. Green testified the purpose of the temporary construction easement on the owner's land was to provide work room for the Department to tie in and harmonize existing driveways and provide room to build retaining walls. Mr. Green testified that the temporary construction easements the Department acquired were not of sufficient depth to allow the Department to grade the driveway reconnections to the desirable design slope. (Tr. II: 112-113)

Without objection, Mr. Green then presented the Department's cure plan through DOT Exhibit 6. (App. 6) DOT Exhibit 6 showed the new roadway and proposed site alterations on the remainder through computer graphics superimposed on an aerial photograph.

The exhibit showed the proposed driveway locations, parking rearrangements, and landscaping. (Tr. II: 117) Mr. Green testified that the Department would permit the owner to relocate and construct the new driveways at the revised locations should the owner select the Department's cure plan for the remainder property. (Tr. II: 119-120) No motion was made by Armadillo to strike this testimony at its conclusion. (Tr. II: 136)

The next Department witness was Leigh Kerr, a planning consultant, who was presented to testify regarding the variances to the city code needed to implement the Department's cure plan and the probability of obtaining the necessary variances from the City of Davie. Before he took the stand, Armadillo's counsel stated he wanted to preserve an objection to his testimony "on the basis of his inability to establish a reasonable probability that the variances would be granted." (Tr. II: 136-137) Mr. Kerr testified that he had analyzed the history of variances granted by the City of Davie and presented two exhibits to summarize the record. (Tr. II: 141-146) DOT Exhibit 9, admitted without objection, presented a summary of variance actions concerning parking, landscaping, and setback ordinances from 1992 through 1997. This chart reflected that over 94% of those variances requests were granted. (Tr. II:144-145) DOT Exhibit 10, admitted without objection, gave a summary

of variance actions by the City of Davie specific to the Griffin Road project. (Tr. II: 146)

Mr. Kerr opined that the Department's cure plan depicted in DOT Exhibit 6 would require three variances from the City of Davie from parking, open space, and setback code regulations. (Tr. II: 149-153) Based on his discussions with city staff, the variance history, and analysis of the code, Mr. Kerr concluded, without any contemporaneous objection, that there was a reasonable probability the city would approve the plan and grant the needed variances. (Tr. II: 162) At the conclusion of his testimony, there was no motion to strike Mr. Kerr's testimony by Armadillo's counsel (Tr. II: 233)

The designer of the Department's plan, Alan Tinter, a transportation engineer, next explained the proposed plan for the remainder set forth in DOT Exhibit 6. He testified the taking eliminated 49 spaces, but the revisions proposed to the remainder site would put 76 spaces in front and leave the 21 spaces in the rear, for a total of 97 spaces. (Tr. II: 239-241) The parking increase was obtained by shifting the parking closer to the building, reducing the sidewalk from 25 feet wide to 16 feet in width to accommodate the new parking, moving a driveway, and correcting the driveway slope to the acceptable slope. (Tr. II: 262-264) Located on this area to be reconstructed is a

sidewalk with brick pavers, planted areas, landscaping, irrigation system, and two wooden arbor structures. (Tr. IV: 549-555)

Mr. Tinter agreed that if the owner constructed this plan, it could not fit within the existing temporary construction easements acquired by the Department, which were designed for the existing driveways. (Tr. II: 265) Mr. Tinter also advised the cost estimator for the cure plan to include the cost of driveway grading in his estimate. (Tr. II: 264-265) There was no motion to strike any of this testimony at its conclusion. (Tr. II: 295)

Without objection, Mario Cartaya, the Department's architect witness, then testified the Department's cure plan as depicted on DOT Exhibit 6 would cost \$62,620. The estimate included the cost to remove asphalt, lay new asphalt, add concrete curbing, plant four trees and ground cover, extend irrigation sprinklers, remove 20 light poles and replace only seven, demolish sidewalk, correct the drainage, and replace signs. (Tr. III: 312-316)

The appraisers for both parties took the same approach to the appraisal problem. Both experienced appraisers appraised the property as it was on July 19, 1997, appraised the property remaining if nothing were done after the take, both looked at ways to restore value to the remaining property through physical

alterations, and both estimated the value of the remaining property, assuming proposed cures to the remainder. (Tr. III: 354; VI: 899-900)

Mr. Gallion, the Department's appraiser, used both the comparable sales approach and income approach to value the property. (Tr. III: 371) Based on vacant land sales, he concluded the raw land had a market value of \$7.50/square foot. (Tr. III: 379) To arrive at the market value of the whole tract before the taking, he looked for sales of properties with buildings in the range of 12,000 - 50,000 square feet, since the subject building was approximately 26,000 square feet, and looked for sales of properties built between 1970 - 1990, since the subject building was built in 1986. (Tr. III: 339, 379)

After analyzing and comparing the sales of five comparable improved properties, Mr. Gallion found they reflected a range of \$60 - \$68 per square foot of building. Using \$65/square foot as his opinion of value for the 26,013 square foot building, he concluded the property was worth \$1,690,800 under a market approach in the before situation. (Tr. III: 387-398) One thing he noted in his comparisons of the sale properties to the subject was that it was the leasable area that was important, not the gross area. He did not consider the courtyard, breezeway, and meter rooms as part of his leasable area

calculation for the subject. (Tr. III: 389)

Mr. Gallion used the five comparable sales as comparable rental properties to derive a gross market rent of \$13.85/square foot for the building in the before situation. (Tr. III: 399) After deducting expenses from the gross income projected on market rent, net income was shown to be \$217,466, to which he applied a capitalization rate of 12%. Under this income approach, the market value of the property was calculated as \$1,812,200. (Tr. III: 399-402) In reconciling the market approach and income approach, Mr. Gallion concluded the property had a market value of \$1,750,000, excluding fixtures, on the date of taking. (Tr. III: 403)

Because Mr. Gallion concluded the remainder could not operate without substantial physical alterations, he testified the site was only worth the value of the raw land, less the cost of demolition, if nothing were done. (Tr. III: 355) As a result, Mr. Gallion analyzed the market value of the remainder under two different cure scenarios. (Tr. III: 360) He first looked at a cut and reface scenario, which would remove 7,000 square feet of the building and restore up to a total of 105 parking spaces. He concluded this scenario would reduce the value of the remainder by \$440,000, after spending \$200,000 to implement the cure. (Tr. III: 365-366) When compared with the

Department's cure plan of leaving the buildings with reduced parking, which resulted in \$380,000 in severance damages, he concluded the cut and reface plan would mitigate \$260,000 less in damages. (Tr. III: 366)

In trying to find comparable sale properties to value the remainder if the Department cure plan were implemented, Mr. Gallion found many properties up and down Davie Road with similar characteristics that failed to meet the parking code and rented in the range of \$8-\$12/square foot of building. He settled on a comparable sales analysis with three comparable sales of improved properties with similar circumstances. (Tr. III: 416-417) DOT Exhibit 21 was photos of these after value sales, showing the surrounding neighborhoods, roads, and features of the buildings. (Tr. III: 424) Using this sales approach, his analysis reflected the market value of the remainder dropped to \$50/square foot of building, compared to the before value of \$65/square foot. (Tr. III: 416-417)

The comparative rental properties in his after take study reflected a reduced rental income of \$11.50/square foot of building, compared to the before take rent of \$13.85/square foot. (Tr. III: 416) In doing the income calculations, Mr. Gallion said income would drop, but expenses would remain the same, and he raised his capitalization rate to 13%. (Tr. III:

418) He testified he raised the capitalization rate to reflect that the quality of the center had changed negatively and the risk of operation was higher. (Tr. IV: 518) The market approach resulted in the conclusion of value of \$1,300,700 for the cured remainder and the income approach resulted in an after value of \$1,287,000. His final conclusion of value for the remaining land was \$1,287,000, excluding fixtures. (Tr. III: 420)

Mr. Gallion's final conclusion of compensation was as follows:

Parcel	122:	Land Taken	\$121,700
		Improvements taken	32,900
		Severance damages	308,400
		Cost to cure	<u>164,300</u>
			\$627,300
Parcel	715		10,300
Total (Compensa	ation	\$637,600

(Tr. III: 347-349, IV: 532)

Mr. Gallion underwent an extensive cross-examination by Armadillo's counsel. (Tr. III: 426 - IV: 580) During the course of this testimony, Mr. Gallion testified the loss of rent is "due to all consequences that are involved in the acquisition and what's going to be left." (Tr. IV: 532-533) He detailed these factors as the reduced parking, the changed configuration, a building just a few feet off the sidewalk, and the increase in elevation of the road. He testified that the primary reason for reduced rent for the remaining buildings is the lost parking. (Tr. IV: 531-536)

Counsel for Armadillo pressed Mr. Gallion to say that his opinion included no compensation for the lost nine feet of sidewalk that would be replaced with parking in the Department's retrofit plan. (Tr. IV: 541-544, 556) Mr. Gallion did not agree. Mr. Gallion testified the compensation was included in the lost rents, which reduced the market value. (Tr. IV: 543-545) He stated there would be no added value and no added utility with regard to the lower rent if the sidewalk were left in place. (Tr. IV: 545)

Counsel then zeroed in on the arbor area which would be removed and replaced by a parking lot if the Department's plan were built by the owner. (Tr. IV: 556) Counsel asked Mr. Gallion to admit that he had not considered the removal of the arbor, along with irrigation, planter, and concrete pavers in his compensation. Again, Mr. Gallion disagreed:

A. I would demonstrate that my answer to that, by showing a picture of the rent comps in the immediate neighborhood that rent for twelve dollars a square foot with no landscaping, right on the street, no parking in front, no arbors, none of that and that was how I concluded the rent of eleven and a half dollars for this property, which will no longer have an arbor, no longer have the brick pavers or those landscaping strips, I believe on that basis, I have compensated for the loss of that in the proposed cure.

A.. . As I said, I compared this property to the

properties -- look at the pictures, they're not very attractive and

that's how I judge the rent for this property and these are neighborhood properties.

(Tr. IV: 556)

Mr. Gallion concluded that the amenity of the arbor seating area, "if there is some value to it, I would say it would be business value, which is not part of the real estate." (Tr. IV: 557)

At the conclusion of Mr. Gallion's testimony, counsel for Armadillo moved to strike his testimony for the failure to appraise the nine foot strip of property, including the arbor, that would be reconfigured if the owner built the Department's cure. (Tr. IV: 591) He further moved to strike Mr. Gallion's testimony and Mr. Tinter's testimony because the proposed cure would be built off the temporary construction easement being taken by the Department. Counsel argued the land and improvements within the proposed reconstruction area must be specifically appraised and a value assigned to determine severance. (Tr. IV: 591-592) The motion was denied. (Tr. IV: 596)

Armadillo countered the Department's cure testimony with two attacks. Armadillo attacked the viability of the Department's plan and then presented an alternative plan. It first presented

the testimony of Michele Mellgren, planning consultant and former Director of Planning Services for the City of Davie, to opine that the Department's plan would not be approved by the City of Davie. (Tr. IV: 596-597) She testified that she reviewed 110 variance applications between 1994 and 1998 for the city, and she would not have approved the Department's plan because of the lost parking and reduced open space. (Tr. V: 635-642)

Armadillo presented the testimony of John Donaldson, a traffic and transportation engineer. (Tr. V: 779) Mr. Donaldson testified the Department's plan would not work because of the reduced parking, possible flooding problems, and sight distance problems with the driveway. (Tr. V: 779, 784, 792, 819-821) He presented the Armadillo cure plan which would cut off part of the building, reconfigure parking to obtain 99 spaces, and close one of the Griffin Road driveways. The Armadillo plan would not touch the arbor area. (Tr. V: 790-791, 823) He also testified the Department's proposed cure plan could not be constructed within the temporary construction easements. (Tr. V: 794)

In the middle of Mr. Donaldson's testimony, counsel for Armadillo moved to strike the testimony of all of the Department's witnesses concerning the Department's cure plan, since it "incorporates a cure on the property owner's property

to which the Department has no right whatsoever and has provided no compensation whatsoever in the context of this action." (Tr. V: 805-806) This is the first motion to strike the Department's cure plan. The motion was denied. (Tr. V: 808)

After Mr. Donaldson's testimony, counsel for Armadillo again moved to strike the Department's cure plan for not complying with ordinances and not presenting adequate testimony that reasonable probability exists that variances would be obtained. (Tr. VI: 880-881) The court deferred ruling, but later denied the motion. (Tr. VI: 881, VII: 1156)

Armadillo's appraiser, John Hagan, testified the site had a market value of \$2,546,000 before the taking and \$1,325,000 after the taking. (Tr. VI: 903) In the before value analysis, he placed a value of \$10.00/square foot on the raw land. (Tr. VI: 908) He used three appraisal approaches, finding a market value of \$2,554,000 under the cost approach, \$2,474,000 using the income approach, and \$2,414,000 using the comparable sales approach. (Tr. VI: 901, 909, 914, 925) He reconciled the three approaches for a before take market value of \$2,450,000 for the land and buildings. (Tr. VI: 925)

Mr. Hagan also testified the remaining property could not operate without some physical retrofit. (Tr. VI: 942) If no cure were done, his opinion of severance damages was \$1,396,000.

(Tr. VI: 943) In testing the feasibility of the Armadillo cure plan, which cuts off 7,200 square feet of the building, he analyzed the market value of the remaining property as if reconfigured with this cure. (Tr. VI: 944) He applied the same square foot values, the same rental income rate, and the same capitalization rate in the valuation of the cured site as in the before valuation, applying these same rates to the reduced size of the land and building. (Tr. VI: 948) He also included in his comparison the value of fixtures within the areas of the building that would be razed in the Armadillo cure. (Tr. VI: 926) His conclusion of after value cured was \$1,750,000, from which the cost to cure of \$425,000 was subtracted, for an "as is" value of \$1,325,000 after the taking. (Tr. VI: 949-951)

Mr. Hagan's final conclusion of compensation was as follows:

Parcel	122:	Land taken	\$	162,000
		Improvements taken		45,000
		Value of fixtures lost		96,600
		Cost to cure		425,000
		Severance damages		<u>493,000</u>
			\$1	,221,600
Parcel	715:		\$	13,400
Total (Compensa	tion	\$1	,235,000

(Tr. VI: 952-953)

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