IN THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC01-1014 (FOURTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL CASE NO. 4D99-3275)

STATE OF FLORIDA,
DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION,

Petitioner,

v.

ARMADILLO PARTNERS, INC.,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF

Geoffrey L. Jones
Jeck, Harris, & Jones, LLP
Attorneys for Respondent
Armadillo Partners, Inc.
1061 East Indiantown Road,
Suite 400
Jupiter, Florida 33477
(561) 746-1002
Fla. Bar No. 716898

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

The Patel decision actually holds that if the finder of fact determines a reasonable probability exists that future contingencies, such as a variance, will occur, "the finder then must separately determine the actual fair market value of the property on the day it was taken, together with severance damages and other costs." 641 So. 2d at 43 (emphasis supplied). Severance damages and other costs would include

precisely the compensation that Mr. Gallion failed to include in his testimony. The amount Mr. Gallion failed to include in his opinion was not the cost of the Department's cure but rather compensation for property and improvements that would be appropriated as part of that cure.

The Patel decision did not hold that a property owner should not be compensated for property appropriated assuming a cure is implemented, the specific issue addressed by the district court in this case. To the contrary, the Court in Patel held that it was error if the condemnor's evidence did not provide such compensation:

[I]t is obvious that the fact finder below . . . awarded the condemnees nothing for the lost property value and other costs associated with converting other areas of their land to replace lost parking and thereby reduce severance damages. This also was error.

Id. at 44. The lost property value and other costs in this case include the loss of the Arbor Area and improvements. The Patel decision supports the decision by the district court below in holding that a failure to provide compensation for property appropriated by a cure is improper.

C. The Williams v. Department of Transportation Decision

The district court's decision is also based on Williams

v. Department of Transportation, 579 So. 2d 226 (Fla. 1st DCA

1991), disapproved in part on other grounds, Broward County v.

Patel, 641 So. 2d 40 (Fla. 1994), which also rejected the Department's appraisal methodology. In Williams, the property owner used the area of the taking for employees' and customers' parking. In that case, the condemnor's appraiser testified that the lost parking could be replaced by constructing a new parking lot on the rear of the property. As in the Armadillo condemnation, the condemnor's appraiser testified concerning the cost of constructing a new parking area. Specifically, the Williams appraiser testified that the construction cost of a new rear parking lot would be \$24,000 and added that amount to the property owner's proposed compensation.

The Williams appraiser, however, went further than Mr.

Gallion. Since the proposed rear parking area required 8,000 square feet of the property remainder, the Williams appraiser appraised the 8,000 square feet and determined that the property owner was entitled to additional compensation of \$48,000, based on a valuation of \$6.00 per square foot. The Williams appraiser then opined that compensation to the property owner of the total of \$24,000 and \$48,000 would fully compensate the property owner and no severance damages would result because all damages and effects to the remainder would be cured by the \$72,000 in compensation.

Mr. Gallion, however, did not opine as to any compensation to the property owner for the approximately one thousand six hundred twenty square foot Arbor Area and improvements that were to be appropriated by the Department's cure other than to the extent that the property owner would receive less rent if the cure was implemented. T:547, lines 4-11; T:550, lines 2-8. In doing so, however, he opined that his rent reduction calculation was a "hundred percent" as a result of the reduction in parking. T:536, line 19-537, line 10.

The Department's appraiser in Williams and Mr. Gallion both failed to consider the effect of appropriating another part of the property for a new parking area and, in the Armadillo condemnation, of destroying improvements constructed on that property and changing the use to which it could be put thereafter. In Williams, the district court stated:

[The Department's appraiser's] opinion ignores the fact that the new parking area would not provide as much space for parking as Williams had before the taking, ignores the fact that the new parking area would intrude into Williams's service area, ignores the impact that rear parking for customers might have on the value of the property as a business site, and ignores the fact that the new parking area would prevent further expansion of the business on that site [note omitted]. All of these items were appropriate for consideration as severance damages under the Byrd decision and should have been considered in the formulation of [the appraiser's] opinion. Where the testimony of an appraiser is based on a misconception of the law resulting in a lower valuation of damages than if he had correctly applied the law, such

testimony should be excluded. [citations omitted].

Williams, 579 So. 2d at 229 (emphasis supplied).

Similarly, Mr. Gallion failed to provide any compensation for the loss of landscaping and a waiting area for restaurant tenants, the effect of the loss of the Arbor Area on the use and desirability of restaurant operations at the center, the loss of improvements within the Arbor Area, the loss of aesthetics, the loss of other uses that the property owner could have made of the area, the loss of the property owner's ability to reconfigure its parking lot in the future for a reason not associated with a condemnation or to expand its building to the west, and otherwise failed to compensate the property owner for the appropriation of the area required by the Department's cure. See also Department of Transportation v. Murray, 670 So. 2d 977 (Fla. 1^{st} DCA 1996), decision quashed on other grounds, 687 So. 2d 825 (Fla. 1997)(part of cure inadmissible as matter of law and properly excluded because witness ignored reduction in value of property with smaller parking area or smaller area available for expansion).

Mr. Gallion testified that he considered the appropriation of the Arbor Area, that the Arbor Area had no additional utility and no use, and thus did not impact upon his determination of lost rental (T:545, line 24-T:546, line 7); that he incorporated consideration of the loss of the

Arbor Area in calculating lost rental, although the loss had no effect on that consideration (T:555, line 22-T:546, line 15); that the Arbor Area was merely "concrete sidewalk" and "extra pavement that has no use" (T:545, lines 1, 10) and that had "no added value, no added utility" because the loss was merely "seven [sic] feet less of concrete" (T:545, lines 14-15, 18-23). He testified that the loss of the Arbor Area "is compensated by the reduction in rent" and the only manner in which he factored the appropriation of the Arbor Area into his opinion of compensation was through the reduction in rent that the property would command if the Department's cure were implemented (T:545, lines 3-4; T:545, line 19-T:547, line 11).

Yet, earlier he testified that a "hundred percent" of his rent reduction calculation was because of the loss of parking assuming implementation of the Department's proposed cure.

T:536, line 19-T:537, line 16. If one hundred percent of his compensation was as a result of a loss of parking, then by virtue of mathematics alone, zero percent of Mr. Gallion's compensation is attributable to the loss of the Arbor Area real property and improvements.

He also testified that if the rental income remained the same after the Department's cure were implemented, no severance damages would result. T:500, line 14-T:501, line 9. Thus, he employed the same methodology as that rejected in the

Byrd decision. He testified that no severance damages would result, despite the appropriation of the Arbor Area, if the rental income would remain the same after implementation of the Department's cure. In Byrd the Department's appraiser testified that the property owner suffered no severance damages since the cure provided that the lost parking spaces were to be replaced on another portion of the property. Such a methodology is based on a misconception of the law. Byrd at 837.

The Department's position requires a departure from thirty-one years of established precedent concerning severance damage compensation in eminent domain proceedings. Mr. Gallion failed to recognize the significance of the appropriation of the Arbor Area. Although the Department argues that compensation was provided as part of the rental reduction, Mr. Gallion's testimony confirms that the Department failed to provide any compensation for the Arbor Area real property and improvements or for the loss of the aesthetics or functional use that it provided.

D. <u>The Department of Transportation v. Byrd Decision</u>

In Department of Transportation v. Byrd, 254 So. 2d 836 (Fla. $1^{\rm st}$ DCA 1971), disapproved in part on other grounds, Broward County v. Patel, 641 So. 2d 40 (Fla. 1994), the

Department sought to prove that a motel owner had not suffered severance damages to the remaining property because the parking spaces lost in the taking could be replaced in an area where a shuffleboard court was located. Byrd, 254 So. 2d at 836. The trial court properly excluded the testimony because it was based on a misconception of the law concerning severance damages. Id. at 837.

The district court stated:

The expert's opinion ignores the reality of the missing shuffleboard court or if the same were to be rebuilt on yet another portion of appellees' property, the expert ignores the reduction in value of a motel with smaller grounds for its guests to enjoy or perhaps lesser areas for expansion.

Byrd, 254 So. 2d at 836-837.

In Byrd, the district court stated that "[i]n essence, the State contends that the value of appellees' remaining land is not diminished by the taking." Id. at 836. Similarly, Mr. Gallion testified that although the remaining land was damaged because of reduced rent caused by less parking at the shopping center, the loss of the Arbor Area and the improvements within that area did not diminish the value of the property in any way. Citing LeSuer v. State Road Department, 231 So. 2d 265, 268 (Fla. 1st DCA 1970), the Byrd court stated that the cost of making physical changes to the property necessitated by a

taking constitutes severance damages. Byrd, at 837. In both Byrd and this case, the Department wished to mitigate damages by proposing a cure that would involve the destruction of improvements on the remainder property. The cost of such changes constitutes severance damages and must be awarded to the property owner as a constitutional element of the property owner's compensation.

E. The Department's Before and After Argument

The Department also asserts that the district court decision conflicts with the Patel decision because the district court replaced a "before and after" severance damages analysis with a "cost-to-cure" analysis. The Patel decision did not overrule the decision in Mulkey v. Department of Transportation, 448 So. 2d 1062, 1065 (Fla. 2d DCA 1984), and, thus, no error may be claimed for the district court's reliance on that decision in referencing the general rule for calculating severance damages as the "before and after" rule.

The decision the Department cites concerning this rule,

Canney v. City of St. Petersburg, 466 So. 2d 1193 (Fla. 2d DCA 1985), also supports the exception to the "before and after" rule. The Canney decision states that the "cost to cure rule" is an exception that may apply "in cases where the injury to the remainder can be 'cured' at a cost which is less than the

severance damage." Id. at 1195. The Department misinterprets both the Patel decision and the district court decision under review. In addressing severance damages, the district court stated that "[s]everance damages, as a general rule, 'are the difference between the value of the property before and after the taking'". Armadillo, 780 So. 2d at 235 (citing Canney v. City of St. Petersburg, 466 So. 2d 1193, 1195 (Fla. 2d DCA 1985)); DA:2. The district court then stated that this general rule "may be replaced by a cost-to-cure approach where the cost is less than the decreased value of the remainder." Armadillo, 780 So. 2d at 235; DA: 2; Mulkey v. Department of Transportation, 448 So. 2d 1062 (Fla. 2d DCA 1984). The foregoing is established law and does not depart from precedent or conflict with the Patel decision. See Department of Transportation v. Frenchman, Inc., 476 So. 2d 224, 227 (Fla. 4th DCA 1985), review dismissed, 495 So. 2d 750 (Fla. 1986) ("We think this is a correct statement of the law of this state as in the majority of American jurisdictions.")

In addition, the alleged "substitution" of a before and after analysis with a cost-to-cure analysis is not the basis of the district court decision. The district court addressed these analyses in describing Mr. Gallion's testimony and his use of the before and after and cost-to-cure analyses.

Armadillo, 780 So. 2d at 235; DA: 2. The district court faulted the appraiser not for his use of a particular analysis but because "no provision in his valuation was made for the loss of the Arbor Area". Armadillo, 780 So. 2d at 236; DA: 3.

F. The Department's Cost to Cure Argument

The Department argues that Patel held that the cost of a cure, whether or not it included damages resulting from the cure such as compensation for the property and improvements appropriated in the Department's cure in this case, is not a separate item of damage. Petitioner's Initial Brief, page 21. The Department never raised this issue before and thus has waived the ability to pursue the issue.

The Department cites two decisions that support the award of cost to cure damages, does not argue they have been overruled by Patel, but then argues that Patel held that cost to cure damages should not be considered as a separate item of damage. Canney v. City of St. Petersburg, 466 So. 2d 1193, 1195 (Fla. 2d DCA 1985); LeSuer v. State Road Department, 231 So. 2d 265, 268 (Fla. 1st DCA 1970). Again, the Department misconstrues this Court's statements in Patel. This Court did not overrule Canney or LeSuer or eliminate cost to cure damages. In Patel, "costs associated with converting other areas of their land to replace lost parking" is synonymous

with cost to cure damages. Patel, at 44.

At trial the Department agreed to a verdict form in which the cost to cure is itemized as a separate item of damage.

R:541-546. Both parties' appraiser witnesses assigned specific amounts to their respective cure's "cost to cure" damages, without objection. T:905, lines 3-9; T:348, lines 23-24; AA:19-Department's Ex. 12. Thus, the Department's position that the cost of a proposed cure should not be considered as a separate item of damage contradicts the methodology employed by its own witness. T:348, lines 23-24.

The Department's argument that the cost to cure represents an award for a theoretical cure that may never be implemented and thus should not be paid to a property owner is also contradicted by its proof at trial. The Department presented proof that their "cost to cure", i.e. the cost of the Department's cure, was \$102,800 (\$69,900 + \$32,900).

AA:19-Department Ex. 12. Beside the amount of damages for Parcels 122 and 715, the Department requested that the jury award their cure amount, \$102,800, together with \$308,400 in severance damages unmitigated by the cure that the Department argued the property would sustain assuming the Department's cure were implemented. AA:19-Department Ex. 12; R:541-546 (The record demonstrates that the title "Severance damage to remaining property" on the verdict form refers to unmitigated

severance damages incurred despite implementation of a cure.). Mr. Gallion confirmed that the Department's cure was meant to mitigate the more extreme damages the property would suffer in the absence of a cure. T:356, line 6-T:357, line 16. Thus, the damages proffered by the Department assumed both the implementation of the Department's cure and the appropriation of the Arbor Area, but did not include compensation for that appropriation.

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